Supreme Court No. 89633-0

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Phillip Schloredt was arrested and charged with the burglary of a tire shop in Edmonds, which occurred on April 8, 2011. CP 171-72; RP 80-95.

Before trial, Mr. Schloredt moved in limine to exclude a bag containing a syringe that had been found by officers when they searched his truck. RP 10; CP 157-58. The trial court granted this motion and instructed the State to "carefully instruct" its witnesses on the court's ruling excluding any reference to the needles. RP 10.

Despite this ruling, at trial, Officer Alan Hardwick testified that Mr. Schloredt told him about "needles" in his bag, and that Mr. Schloredt had seemed unstable on his feet. RP 183-91. The officer stated he had wondered if Mr. Schloredt was on heroin, both due to his behavior and his comment about the needles. RP 189. Counsel for Mr. Schloredt failed to object.

The jury convicted Mr. Schloredt of second degree burglary. CP 135; 2RP 31-34.

Following his conviction, Mr. Schloredt's trial counsel withdrew, stating that Mr. Schloredt wished to pursue ineffective assistance of counsel in a motion for a new trial. CP 180-83.

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings from the trial consists of two non-consecutively paginated volumes. The first volume, from December 5 and 6, 2011, is referred to as "RP." The second volume, from the afternoon of December 6, 2011, is referred to as "2RP." Post-conviction proceedings are referred to by date, "1/13/12 RP."

On January 31, 2012, Mr. Schloredt appeared on a motion for a new trial with new assigned counsel from the Snohomish Public Defender's Office. 1/31/12 RP 2. Ms. Rivera, the new attorney, stated she "wouldn't be participating" in the motion for a new trial, and Mr. Schloredt argued the motion pro se, explaining that Ms. Rivera was not willing to assist him and therefore he "didn't have much choice in the matter." Id. at 2, 11 (emphasis added). The court agreed with Mr. Schloredt that the violation of the ruling excluding the syringe was a "problematic circumstance" and the strongest argument in the motion. Id. at 20-21.

The court denied the motion for a new trial and continued the case for Mr. Schloredt's motion to arrest judgment and sentencing. 1/31/12 RP 23.

On February 27, 2012, Mr. Schloredt appeared with Ms. Rivera for the motion to arrest judgment under CrR 7.4 and for sentencing. 2/27/12 RP 6.

After the court stated its understanding that Mr. Schloredt was appearing pro se on the CrR 7.4 motion, Mr. Schloredt responded, "I never requested to proceed pro se on these issues and since I don't have any representation, that this is a violation of my constitutional rights to knowingly and willingly forfeit my right to representation by a lawyer." Id. (emphasis added).

After Mr. Schloredt put letters from his counsel into evidence, CP 15-16, Ms. Rivera explained her reasons for withdrawing from the representation. 2/27/12 RP 7-9. Ms. Rivera explained that after looking into "the merit of the

arguments, research[ing] the issues," and presenting the case to her supervisor, she was informed that the Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC's) prohibited her from representing Mr. Schloredt on his CrR 7.4 motion.

2/27/12 RP 9; CP 15-16.

Mr. Schloredt pleaded with the court for a lawyer to assist him, since Ms. Rivera refused, explaining that he did not believe he was qualified to represent himself, even with access to the law library. 2/27/12 RP 13. Mr. Schloredt ultimately "opted" to represent himself on the CrR 7.4 motion, with increased access to the law library at the jail. <u>Id</u>. at 21-23. The case was continued for Mr. Schloredt to prepare for the hearing.

On March 14, 2012, Mr. Schloredt argued the CrR 7.4 motion pro se. 3/14/12 RP 2. The court denied the motion, although it found the strongest argument was the violation of the court's ruling regarding the syringe. <u>Id.</u> at 32-34. Mr. Schloredt's motions for reconsideration on the CrR 7.4 and 7.5 were also denied. <u>Id.</u> at 34-35.

On September 30, 2013, the Court of Appeals affirmed Mr.

Schloredt's conviction. Appendix A. Mr. Schloredt moved to reconsider the

Court of Appeals decision, and on October 24, 2013, the Court of Appeals

denied the motion for reconsideration. Appendix B.

Mr. Schloredt seeks review in this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

E. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED</u>

THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW, AS IT MISAPPLIED THE LAW CONCERNING INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND THE WAIVER OF COUNSEL, REQUIRING REVIEW. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

The Court of Appeals opinion erroneously attributes a great deal of importance to its finding that Mr. Schloredt's post-trial counsel did not withdraw, but rather made a professional judgment not to pursue the legal issues her client wished to pursue. Appendix A at 6. The Court reasons that if there is no withdrawal, then no waiver of counsel must be determined. Id. This finding is flawed and undermines the accuracy of the decision on several levels.

This Court has advised that while certain decisions relating to the conduct of a trial belong to the accused, others are ultimately for defense counsel. In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710, 735, 16 P.3d 1 (2001); State v. Piche, 71 Wn.2d 583, 590, 430 P.2d 522 (1967). In Stenson, this Court noted that decisions such as objecting to inadmissible evidence are reserved to counsel. 142 Wn.2d at 735 (citing 3 Wayne R. LaFave, Jerold H. Israel & Nancy J. King, Criminal Procedure, Sec. 11.6(a), at 603 (2d ed. 1999)).

Here, Mr. Schloredt's post-conviction motions were premised on the violation of the trial court's pre-trial rulings and trial counsel's failure to

object to inadmissible evidence – something inarguably in the province of counsel, not the defendant.

Once Ms. Rivera was appointed to represent Mr. Schloredt on his post-conviction motions, she immediately informed the trial court that she was unwilling to argue the motions she was expressly appointed to argue. 1/31/12 RP 2 (January 31, 2012 appearance). The trial court then asked Mr. Schloredt to proceed with argument pro se. 1/31/12 RP 2. Ms. Rivera's refusal to represent her client's position should be seen as a constructive withdrawal. At that point, the trial court was obligated to conduct a waiver colloquy with Mr. Schloredt, which it failed to do.

A waiver of counsel must be executed knowingly and intelligently at the time the court rules upon a waiver, as the critical question is the defendant's state of mind at the time he waives his right to counsel. The court must indulge in every presumption against the waiver of the right to counsel.

State v. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d 496, 504, 229 P.3d 714 (2010); State v. Hahn,

106 Wn.2d 885, 896, 726 P.2d 25 (1986); see Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S.

456, 464, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938). See also United States v.

Balough, 820 F.2d 1485, 1489 (9th Cir. 1987); United States v. Mohawk, 20

F.3d 1480, 1484 (9th Cir. 1994); United States v. Aponte, 591 F.2d 1247, 1250 (9th Cir. 1978).

The trial court made no inquiry into whether Mr. Schloredt was knowingly and intelligently waiving his right to counsel before proceeding pro se on his post-conviction motions. If anything, the record indicates that Mr. Schloredt repeatedly requested counsel, but was refused, pleading, "This court appointed counsel for this action but the attorney claims that her office would not allow her to participate..." 1/31/12 RP 3.²

In addition, the Court of Appeals found that even if a waiver was required, "the court conducted a thorough colloquy on the record prior to Schloredt's presentation of his motion for arrest of judgment." Appendix A at 7. The Court's assessment that a colloquy was held prior Mr. Schloredt's argument of the arrest of judgment motion is not supported by the record. 2/27/12 RP. Although the trial court discussed with Mr. Schloredt its understanding of the ethical canons, this was not a colloquy sufficient to satisfy the requirements of self-representation, which should have been required once Ms. Rivera effectively withdrew from representation. See, e.g., State v. Christensen, 40 Wn. App. 290, 293, 698 P.2d 1069 (1985).

² Mr. Schloredt appears to attempt to cite <u>Faretta</u> in his oral argument, stating,

As I understand it, you have to present a Ferrier [sic] motion, or something like that, to become pro se. To do that, you have to be able to understand 17 rules of self-representing, or something like that, and that's all I know about it. And I don't believe I'm qualified to represent myself even with access to the law library. I would actually like an attorney to represent me."

^{2/27/12} RP 13-14 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals opinion is premised upon the fact that no waiver of counsel was necessary, and therefore, that the trial court's failure to conduct any analysis of Mr. Schloredt's waiver of counsel was meaningless. As discussed above, because the Court of Appeals misapprehends the law on waiver, Mr. Schloredt respectfully requests this Court take review. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 504 (the court shall indulge in "every reasonable presumption" against a defendant's waiver of the right to counsel); State v. Silva, 108 Wn. App. 536, 539-40, 31 P.2d 729 (2001) (voluntary and intelligent waiver will not be found unless it is clear the defendant is making this decision "with eyes open" as to its risks and consequences).

Alternatively, because the record does not support the Court of Appeals determination that an appropriate colloquy was administered on the record, in light of the lack of waiver, review should be granted. State v.

DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d 369, 816 P.2d 1 (1991); Bellevue v. Acrey, 103 Wn.2d 203, 691 P.2d 957 (1984); Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975); RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

For these reasons, Mr. Schloredt respectfully requests review.

RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

MR. SCHLOREDT PRESERVES FURTHER REVIEW OF ALL OTHER ISSUES PREVIOUSLY RAISED IN BRIEFING AND IN HIS STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL GROUNDS.

Mr. Schloredt's petition for review focuses on the issues discussed above. Mr. Schloredt does not, however, abandon the other arguments or assignments of error raised in his briefing, either by counsel or in Mr. Schloredt's Statement of Additional Grounds. Each of these arguments is expressly reserved for further review.

F. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the Court of Appeals decision requires review, as it is in conflict with other decisions of the Court of Appeals and with decisions of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).