I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The defendant, Phillip Schloredt, was convicted of one count 

of second degree burglary alleged to have been committed while 

the defendant was on community custody. 1 CP 171-72. He was 

convicted as charged after a jury trial. 1 CP 135. The defendant's 

trial counsel withdrew before sentencing and new counsel, Ms. 

Rivera, was appointed to represent the defendant for post

conviction proceedings. 1 CP 15-20, 180-82. 

Ms. Rivera met with the defendant to discuss the merits of a 

motion for new trial that he wanted to bring. She investigated his 

claims, and researched the merits of his motion. After discussing 

the case with her supervisor, Ms. Rivera determined that she could 

not bring the motion without providing the court authority that was 

contrary to her client's position. She informed the defendant that 

she would not brief his motion for arrest of judgment under CrR 

7.4(a) on the basis that there was insufficiency of proof of a 

material element of the crime. Ms. Rivera did arrange for a 

transcript of a portion of the trial to investigate a claim the defense 

had not been provided complete discovery. 1 CP 15-20; 1-13-12 

RP 1-6; 1-31-12 RP 9. 
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The defendant filed a Motion for Arrest of Judgment and/or 

New Trial. 1 CP 117-128. Ms. Rivera notified the court that she 

would not be presenting the defendant's motion, but that she was 

willing to help the defendant with research and filing any reply to 

the State's response. 1-13-12 RP 1-2. 

The matter was continued to January 31. At that time Ms. 

Rivera stated that she was appearing on behalf of the defendant, 

but would not participate in his motion for new trial. The court then 

heard from the defendant on his motions. Although the defendant 

requested the motion for arrest of judgment be heard later, he 

argued both the motion to arrest judgment and motion for new trial 

based on ineffective assistance of counsel. 1-31-12 RP 2-18. 

Counsel did assist the defendant in his oral argument by inquiring 

whether the court had reviewed a transcript of the relevant portion 

of the trial. 1-31-12 RP 9. The court addressed both arguments, 

and then denied the defendant's motions. 1-31-12 RP 18-23. 

The sentencing hearing was continued to February 27 at 

which time the parties anticipated the defendant would argue for 

arrest of judgment pursuant to CrR 7.4 based on insufficiency of the 

proof of a material element of the crime. 1-31-12 RP 29-34; 2-8-12; 

RP 1-2. On that date the defendant stated that he <:lid not want to 

2 



represent himself on this motion. Ms. Rivera stated that she would 

represent the defendant at sentencing, but not on the motions. The 

court noted that a new attorney would not likely remedy the 

problem faced by Ms. Rivera. It gave the defendant the option of 

representing himself on the motions, or having Ms. Rivera 

represent him with the understanding that she would present 

authority that conflicted with his position. The defendant conferred 

with Ms. Rivera, and then opted to represent himself on the motion. 

2-27-12 RP 6-16, 19-24. 

The court then asked the defendant if he understood he had 

been charged with and convicted of a burglary at trial, if he 

understood he had a right to counsel at public expense, and that if 

he chose to represent himself the court would be unable to advise 

him on how to defend himself. The court also asked if the 

defendant understood that the motion would be governed by the 

rules of evidence and rules of criminal procedure. The court asked 

the defendant if he understood that if testimony was required how 

he was to present that testimony. The court asked if he understood 

that a lawyer may understand things about the rules governing the 

motion that he may not understand. The court asked the defendant 

if he was threatened or promised anything to give up the right to 
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counsel, and if he was making a voluntary decision. The court also 

warned the defendant that it was not advisable to represent himself. 

After receiving appropriate answers from the defendant the court 

found the defendant made a knowing and voluntary waiver of his 

right to counsel "as to that motion only." 2-27-12 RP 24-27. 

The defendant made the same arguments in support of his 

motion that he had previously made on January 31. The court 

denied the motions. 3-14-12 RP 2-22, 24-26, 27-34. Ms. Rivera 

represented the defendant at sentencing arguing for an exceptional 

sentence below the standard range, or for a low end sentence. 3-

14-12 RP 35-39. After the defendant was sentenced Ms. Rivera 

filed a notice of appeal on the defendant's behalf. 1 CP 2. 

II. ARGUMENT 

On appeal the defendant argued that the trial court erred 

when it allowed him to represent himself in the absence of an 

adequate colloquy to ensure that he knowingly, voluntarily, and 

intelligently waived his right to counsel. The Court of Appeals 

rejected this argument on the basis that counsel had not withdrawn, 

no waiver of right to counsel was necessary under these 

circumstance, the court did conduct an adequate colloquy before 

the second time he argued his post-conviction motions, and any 
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error in failing to conduct a colloquy before the first time he argued 

those motions was harmless. See Appending A to petition, Slip 

opinion at 6-7. The defendant asks this Court to review this portion 

of the Court of Appeals decision on the basis that it is in conflict 

with a decision of this Court and that it is in conflict with a decision 

of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b )( 1 ), and (2). Petition at 4. 

The defendant's argument is largely based on a 

misstatement of the facts. He states that "Ms. Rivera's refusal to 

represent her client's position should be seen as a constructive 

withdrawal." Petition at 6. He then argues this action obligated the 

court to conduct a waiver colloquy "which it failed to do." ld. 

First Ms. Rivera did not "constructively withdraw" from the 

defendant's case. She made a reasoned decision, after 

investigating the motions that the defendant wanted to bring and 

conferring with her supervisor, that the defendant would not be 

benefitted if she brought those motions. Although she personally 

would not bring the motions, she assisted the defendant in bringing 

them by helping him with his research and ensuring the court had 

an opportunity to be familiar with the relevant portion of the record. 

The only portion of the post-conviction proceedings that Ms. Rivera 
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did not participate in was the actual argument for the defendant's 

motions for arrest of judgment and for new trial. 

The Court has recognized that counsel has wide latitude to 

make decisions on behalf of her client based on her skill and 

knowledge. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 6868, 688-89, 104 

S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). An attorney has no obligation to 

raise every non-frivolous issue the defendant wishes to pursue. 

Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751-752, 103 S.Ct. 3308, 77 

L.Ed.2d 987 (1983). 

Counsel is not, at the risk of being charged with 
incompetence, obliged to raise every conceivable 
point, however frivolous, damaging or inconsequential 
it may appear at the time, or to argue every point to 
the court and jury which in retrospect may seem 
important to the defendant nor is he obliged to obtain 
a written waiver or instructions from the defendant as 
to each and every turn or direction the accused wants 
his counsel to take. 

State v. Piche, 71 Wn.2d 583, 590, 430 P.2d 522 (1967), cert. 

denied, 390 U.S. 912 (1968). 

The Court of Appeals found no waiver of right to counsel 

was necessary where, as here, the defendant was permitted hybrid 

representation, but where counsel continued to perform core 

functions of counsel. Slip Op. at 6, State v. Barker, 35 Wn. App. 
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388, 394-95, 667 P.2d 108 (1983). The defendant cites no contrary 

authority. 

Second, the defendant states that the trial court made "no 

inquiry into whether Mr. Schloredt was knowingly and intelligently 

waiving his right to counsel before proceeding pro se on his post

conviction motions." Petition at 7. That assertion is flatly 

contradicted by the record. 2-27-12 RP 24-27. Even if a colloquy 

were required, the court did conduct one. The colloquy was 

sufficient to ensure the defendant was making a knowing, 

voluntary, and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel as to the 

post-conviction motions. State v. Christensen, 40 Wn. App. 290, 

295 n.2, 698 P.2d 1069 (1985), State v. Vermillion, 112 Wn. App. 

844, 858 n. 3, 51 P.3d 188 (2002), review denied, 148 Wn.2d 122 

(2003). 

The defendant also asks the Court to review every one of 

the issues he raised by appellate counsel and in his statement of 

additional grounds for review. Petition at 1, 9. However, he 

provides no authority or argument to show why this Court should 

accept review under RAP 13.4(b). Nor does he provide a concise 

statement of the specific issues that he seeks this Court to review. 

Under similar circumstances this Court has refused to consider 
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issues argued in supplemental briefing because the party did not 

properly raise the issue pursuant to RAP 13.7(b) and RAP 

13.4(c)(5). State v. Korum, 157 Wn.2d 614, 623-24, 141 P.3d 13 

(2006). This Court has also refused to consider issues where the 

party assigned error to the lower court's decision on the issue, but 

then only provided argument by reference to its briefing in the lower 

court. U.S. West Communications. Inc. v. Washington Utilities and 

Transportation Commission, 134 Wn.2d 74, 111-112, 949 P.2d 

1337 ( 1997). Because the defendant has failed to properly raise 

any additional issues for review, the Court should refuse to review 

them. 

Ill. CONCLUSION 

The reasons the defendant gives to argue this Court should 

review the decision of the Court of Appeals are based on a 

misstatement of facts. The Court's decision is not contrary to 

authority from this Court or any other Court of Appeals decision. 

The Court should deny the petition for review as to the waiver of 
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right to counsel issue. Review of any other issues not properly 

raised should also be denied. 

Respectfully submitted on December 19, 2013. 

MARK K. ROE 
Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney 

By: /{ct.MJuu~ u/d/wr.J 
KATHLEEN WEBBER WSBA #16040 
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 
Attorney for Respondent 
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Diane. 

Diane K. Kremenich 
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Legal Assistant/Appellate Unit